1949

George M. Whiteley v. John DeVries, Barbara DeVries, Harry L. Barnum, strevell-Paterson Finance Corporation, M. L. Ewell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal by the defendant Ewell from a judgment foreclosing two mortgages given by the defendants DeVries to the plaintiff Whiteley and foreclosing as a mortgage a Warranty Deed given by the de-

fendants DeVries to the plaintiff Whiteley for a consideration of \$600.00 and subordinating Ewell's lien for labor and materials to the lien of the two mortgages above referred to. The defendant Ewell has appealed.

The Complaint of the plaintiff is in three causes of action, the first two being for the foreclosure of notes and mortgages dated March 10th and April 15, 1947 for \$4,000.00 and \$1,000.00 respectively, and the third cause of action to declare the Warranty Deed given by the defendants DeVries to plaintiff under date of July 31, 1947 to be a mortgage to secure a loan of \$600.00 made by the plaintiff to the defendants DeVries at that time.

No note was taken by the plaintiff to evidence the claimed loan of \$600.00 at the time of the delivery of the Warranty Deed (Tr. p. 44). A documentary stamp was attached to the Deed and it was recorded on the same day of its date, July 31, 1947 (Exhibit "C").

On June 25, 1947 defendant Ewell had entered into a contract with the DeVries to do the plumbing work on the buildings then being constructed on the premises in question and between June 27th and July 23, 1947 had performed labor and supplied material in the performance of the work to the value of \$724.57 (Exhibit 1). Up to that time he had received no money on account and he refused to proceed further (Record p. 108).

About that time Mr. Gaddis, who was the financial agent for the plaintiff (Record p. 101), called the plaintiff and asked to know if he, the plaintiff, would be interested in letting DeVries have \$600.00 more so that he can get the job finished (Record pp. 124-5). The plaintiff

met DeVries and Gaddis on the job and DeVries told him that the plumber Ewell would not go any further unless he had \$600.00, and if plaintiff would let him have \$600.00 more he would give him a Warranty Deed for the property. Mr. Gaddis said, "We'll take a deed to this property from you if Whiteley will let you have the \$600.00, and at the end of sixty days if you pick up the \$600.00 you can have the Deed back and then the two first and second mortgages will ride." (Record p. 126). Ewell was not present at this conversation.

Later, probably July 31st, DeVries came into Gaddis's office and Gaddis told him, "Mr. Whiteley demands a Warranty Deed to the property if he gives you this third loan of \$600.00." (Record p. 101). Mr. DeVries gave Whiteley the deed which was immediately recorded and Whiteley gave Gaddis the check for \$600.00 for Ewell to return to work and complete the job. He told Mr. Gaddis to pay the plumber and see that the work was done (Record p. 127).

Mr. Ewell did return to the job and from July 31, 1947 until August 22, 1947 he performed additional work and supplied additional materials of a value of \$1838.96, making a total of \$2,463.53 on which only \$600.00 had been paid (Exhibit 1). Mr. Ewell's claim of lien (Exhibit 2) was for an unpaid balance of \$1,514.75, this amount being based upon the original contract price for the work to be done by him.

DeVries abandoned the property after paying Whiteley some \$50.00 on the obligations and without

paying Whiteley the \$600.00 and picking up the Warranty Deed.

In the judgment the court declared the lien of the mortgages for \$4,000.00 and \$1,000.00 with interest and attorney's fees to be prior to the claim of the defendant Ewell and in effect held the defendant Ewell's claim to be prior to the plaintiff's claim on the alleged loan of \$600.00 (Record pp. 65-6).

### STATEMENT OF ERRORS RELIED UPON

1. The trial court erred in making Finding of Fact No. 11 (Tr. p. 58) wherein the court found that the Warranty Deed was in fact a third mortgage to secure the payment of \$600.00.

2. The trial court erred in Finding of Fact No. 10 (Tr. p. 58) that plaintiff's lien is paramount and superior to the liens and claims of all other defendants in this action as to the first and second causes of action.

3. The trial court erred in overruling the objections of the defendant to the conclusions and irrelevant and immaterial questions objected to by the defendant to the questions asked the witness Gaddis.

4. The trial court erred in refusing to strike the conclusions of the witness Gaddis relative to the nature of the transaction, which motions were made by the defendant.

5. The trial court erred in entering judgment against this defendant.

6. The trial court erred in denying defendant's motion for a new trial.

## ARGUMENT

1. *The Trial Court Erred in Making Finding Of Fact No's. 10 and 11 Subordinating Defendant's Lien To Plaintiff's Mortgages.*

The evidence in this case is clear that the plaintiff was desirous of getting the motor court completed and requested and induced Ewell to complete the work. The plaintiff knew on July 31st and before that Ewell had already done considerable work on the property and that he had refused to continue unless he was paid at least \$600.00. In order to induce Ewell to continue the work he gave Gaddis, his own agent, \$600.00 for the purpose, with instructions to pay it to Ewell and continue the work and took from DeVries a Warranty Deed to the property in question with an agreement, of which Ewell had no knowledge, that he would give the deed back to DeVries if DeVries paid him \$600.00 within sixty days.

Under the circumstances the situation is such that the work in effect was done at the plaintiff's request and in order for him, the plaintiff, to obtain the benefit of the work already done and the work to be done thereafter.

This Court has held in the case of *The Cary-Lombard Lumber Company v. Thomas W. Partridge*, 10 Utah 322, 37 Pac. 572 that a lien will attach to a later interest acquired by one who authorizes work. The Court said:

“Such lien under the statute may also be extended to any other or greater interest which such owner may acquire to such property thereafter, and before the lien is established by process of law.”

A case which seems to be most nearly in point on the facts with the case at bar is that of *Lincoln v. Hamilton et al*, 198 N. W. 289, decided by the Supreme Court of Minnesota on April 11, 1924. In this case the Van Sant Trust Company, who claimed to be a mortgagee, appealed from a decision of the lower court holding that its mortgage was subordinate to that of a lien claimant. The trust company had foreclosed a mortgage but the period of redemption had not expired. Plaintiff entered into a contract with a representative of the mortgagor to remodel a home. The trust company assented to the work. The court, in affirming the decision of the lower court, said:

“There can be no doubt at all that both defendant and Hamilton assented to the improvement. A question is made as to whether the former is an ‘owner’ of the premises within the meaning of the mechanic’s lien statute. We think that it is. To be an owner within the meaning of this statute does not require absolute ownership. *Benjamin v. Wilson*, 34 Minn. 517, 26 N. W. 725. It is there pointed out that an owner is ordinarily ‘one having dominion over a thing.’ No one had so much dominion over the real estate in question as defendant Van Sant Company. The title records indicated that it was the absolute owner. Upon the record before us, admirably reduced to its lowest terms by the finding, defendant cannot be permitted now to assert that it is not the owner so as to relieve the property of plaintiff’s lien. *Where the legal title to real estate is in the mortgagee who assents to an improvement, his title is subject to the lien arising from the improvement.*” (Italics ours).

Another case which supports the Appellant's position is that of *Jones v. Mawson-Peterson Lumber Company*, 150 Pac. (2d) 795 decided by the Supreme Court of Colorado July 3, 1944. In this case the Lumber Company furnished lumber to build a garage to one Osborne who had a lease on the property. A Mrs. Siltamaki furnished the money to Osborne for the building. The evidence was in conflict as to whether or not Mrs. Siltamaki authorized the work. The material was furnished during the month of July. In October Mrs. Siltamaki acquired the fee simple title. The court at page 797 says the following:

“That Mrs. Siltamaki had an interest to which the lien would attach is supported by the following cases: *Cary Hardware Co. v. McCarty*, 10 Colo. App. 200, 50 P. 744, wherein it was held that if a party making improvements on realty holds possession of the land under a lease, or by virtue of a license where its authority is coupled with an interest, such party is the owner of the land within the mechanic's lien act. *Horn v. Clark Hardware Co.*, 54 Colo. 522, 131 P. 405, 45 L.R.A., N. S., 100. See, also, *Home Public Market Co. v. Fallis*, 72 Colo. 48, 209 P. 641, in which we held that an option for a lease which later ripened into a ninety-nine year lease was sufficient ownership on which the lien would attach, and *Bankers' B. & L. Ass'n v. Fleming Bros. Lumber Co.*, 83 Colo. 335, 264 P. 1087.”

## 2. *The Trial Court Erred In Not Sustaining Defendant's Objections And Motions To Strike The Evidence Of The Witness Gaddis.*

It is clear from the record that most of the tran-

sactions were handled for Whiteley by Mr. Gaddis of the real estate company as agent for Whiteley. As to the nature of the DeVries deed, all of Gaddis' testimony are conclusion of the witness and what his understanding was. All of this evidence was objected to or motions to strike were made. This evidence was necessary to show that the warranty deed was in fact a mortgage. It is our position that if this purported evidence had been excluded the plaintiff failed to show what he contends was the nature of the transaction. As an illustration of the conclusions of the witness Gaddis we cite the following in the record, (Record pp. 89-90).

“Q. And did you consult with Mr. Whiteley concerning this additional loan?

“A. *He agreed* to let them have six hundred dollars if they would let him have a warranty deed.

“Q. Did he tell you that he would take the deed only as security?

“A. That is right.

“Q. And Mr. and Mrs. DeVries, when you talked to them, did they understand that?

“A. *They understood* they were to give security for the six hundred dollars.

“Q. *It wasn't intended* as a transfer of the lee (fee) in the property was it?

“A. It was not.”

A motion was made to strike all of the testimony

of Gaddis relating to the condition under which the deed was given (Record pp. 97-99). This motion was denied by the court. At no place did Mr. Gaddis testify as to a conversation which would show the intent of the parties when the deed was given. Everything said by him was his conclusion.

Section 132 of 36 *American Jurisprudence*, page 754 provides:

“The mutual intention of the parties to an instrument which is absolute on its face, that such instrument should operate as a mortgage, must be shown by direct evidence or by the circumstances of the case. \* \* \* \*”

The burden is on the person asserting that a deed is in fact a mortgage.

Section 133 of 36 *American Jurisprudence*, pages 754-755 provides:

“There is authority in support of a presumption that an absolute conveyance with a covenant of warranty and without a defeasance either in the conveyance or in a collateral instrument is what it purports to be. In any event, the authorities are unanimously agreed that the burden of introducing evidence to prove that an absolute conveyance, unaccompanied by any written stipulation for reconveyance, was intended to operate as a mortgage rests on the party alleging that intention.”

In this case upon the execution of the warranty deed no note evidencing the obligation was given nor was there any written agreement for reconveyance. It appears affirmatively that revenue stamps were attached to the

deed and it was recorded. No revenue stamps are required for the recordation of a mortgage. Without the conclusions of the witness Gaddis there is no competent evidence which would sustain the burden of proof imposed upon the plaintiff. We submit that the evidence should have been excluded and that it was reversible error on the part of the court not to do so.

### CONCLUSION

We submit that the plaintiff and his agent by their conduct subordinated the mortgage lien, if any, to the mechanic's lien of the defendant Ewell. The plaintiff did not sustain the burden of establishing that the warranty deed given was in fact a mortgage. The judgment of the trial court should be reversed and the lien of the defendant Ewell be declared paramount to the lien of the plaintiff.