1949

George M. Whiteley v. John DeVries, Barbara DeVries, Harry L. Barnum, strevell-Paterson Finance Corporation, M. L. Ewell : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent agrees with most of what is stated as the facts of this matter by appellant in his brief. However, there are certain matters which should be clarified.

On the 10th of March, 1947, respondent loaned \$4,000.00 to John DeVries and Barbara DeVries on a promissory note secured by mortgage, said loan to bear interest at the rate of 6% per annum and payable at the rate of \$50.00 per month; thereafter, on April 16, 1947, respondent loaned to DeVries \$1,000.00 on a promissory note secured by a mortgage on the said premises. The original loans were made to enable the DeVries to build a tourist court on their property at 4214 South State Street. Construction was commenced. Among those working on the property was one M. L. Ewell, the appellant, who did the plumbing work. He commenced working on the premises about the 1st of July, 1947 and finished his work on August 15, 1947. After he had agreed to do the plumbing work on the tourist motel and had commenced work, it became necessary for DeVries to get additional financing. Therefore, on July 31st, DeVries borrowed an additional \$600.00 from respondent. To secure said loan DeVries gave respondent a warranty deed (Tr. 124, 125, 126). It was to be repaid in sixty days. The \$600.00 was paid to appellant and thereafter appellant finished the plumbing work he had undertaken.

The answer and counterclaim of appellant deny the execution of the mortgages, admit the recording of them, and deny generally, for lack of information, the allegations of plaintiff's complaint. However, there was no controversy over the execution of the mortgages or the warranty deed. The only issue made by the pleadings over which there was any controversy was whether

or not the receipt by respondent of the warranty deed, the subject of his third cause of action, caused a merger of his two mortgages, effectively destroying the prior claims against the property.

The appellant alleges in paragraph 2 of the affirmative defense portion of his answer, "That at the instance and request of the defendants *John DeVries and Barbara DeVries* defendant performed labor and furnished materials on the property described in said complaint * * *"

The fifth paragraph of said answer sets up the theory upon which this case was tried before the trial court; said paragraph 5 reading as follows (Tr. 28):

"5. That by reason of the relinquishment of said mortgage by reason of the warranty deed set out above the lien of this defendant is prior and paramount to the mortgaged indebtedness alleged in plaintiff's First Cause Of Action."

There are no pleadings which make an issue of the fact of appellant's reliance on respondent.

The court's decree sets down the priority of the claims of respondent and appellant. The sheriff's costs were given first priority; respondent's \$4,000.00 mortgage, the interest thereon and attorneys' fees applying thereto, were placed second; his \$1,000.00 mortgage, the interest thereon and the attorneys' fees applicable thereto, were placed third, then the court decreed that if there were any proceeds remaining the sheriff should deposit in court the sum of \$1, 514.75, together with in-

terest thereon from the 1st day of July, 1947, said amount being the claimed debt for which appellant had a mechanic's lien.

The loan which was secured by the warranty deed was given fifth place in priority by the court's decree.

The theory of defense made by the pleadings was that the receipt by respondent of the warranty deed merged all of his interest in the DeVries' property and therefore the mechanic's lien, which was filed by appellant on October 3, 1947, taking priority as of July 1, 1947, came ahead of respondent's mortgage of March 10th and his mortgage of April 15, 1947. It was only after the finding of the court that said warranty deed did not merge the two prior mortgages that appellant advanced his theory of reliance upon respondent as the party responsible for all the building on the motel at 4214 South State Street.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I.

NEITHER THE PLEADINGS NOR THE EVIDENCE MAKE ANY ISSUE ON APPELLANT'S RELIANCE UPON RESPONDENT AS HIS DEBTOR.

POINT II.

APPELLANT MAY NOT SEEK REVIEW ON A DEFENSE NOT PRESENTED BY THE PLEADINGS OR EVIDENCE IN THE TRIAL COURT.

POINT III.

THE DECREE OF THE COURT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL AND UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

NEITHER THE PLEADINGS NOR THE EVIDENCE MAKE ANY ISSUE ON APPELLANT'S RELIANCE UPON RESPONDENT AS HIS DEBTOR.

Appellant's argument under his first subheading is based completely upon his reliance theory. The cases which he cites in support of said argument are all cases where the mortgagees have, by their conduct, caused a mechanic or other person doing work on mortgaged premises to believe that the mortgagee was the owner and responsible person to whom they could look for the payment of any obligation against the premises. In the case at bar no such facts exist. Appellant's answer is completely inconsistent with any such theory. It states specifically that the services and materials furnished by appellant were furnished at the "instance and request of the defendants John DeVries and Barbara DeVries."

The work which appellant did was contracted and commenced prior to the date of the \$600.00 loan. The record is clear that Ewell did not even know who appellant was at the time he contracted to do the plumbing work for DeVries (Tr. 116, 117). It is also clear that respondent, Whiteley, did not know who Ewell was (Tr. 126). The only persons Ewell ever saw were DeVries and Gaddis. Gaddis was the agent of Whiteley but for a very limited purpose, to loan Whiteley's money and,

at the same time he was the agent of DeVries in securing a loan for him. There is no evidence whatsoever of any authority on the part of Gaddis to contract with mechanics or workmen for work on property owned by DeVries. Ewell frankly stated that he dealt only with DeVries and the money which he received was from DeVries. All of the parties involved, Whiteley, Ewell, Gaddis and DeVries looked upon and considered DeVries to be the owner of the motel when the loan of \$600.00 was made. DeVries exercised the control of the details of the work and construction and acted at all times as the owner.

POINT II.

APPELLANT MAY NOT SEEK REVIEW ON A DEFENSE NOT PRESENTED BY THE PLEADINGS OR EVIDENCE IN THE TRIAL COURT.

The defense which appellant asserts on appeal seems to be that he relied on respondent, Whiteley, in doing his work. That defense was not pleaded and no issue on it ever made in the trial court.

The law of this state is that if there is any reason why defendant should prevail it is his duty to plead it as a defense. Not having done so he cannot complain on appeal. *Mills v. Gray*, 50 Utah 224, 167 P. 358; *Chipman v. American Fork City*, 54 Utah 93, 179 P. 742.

The cases are numerous that the type of defense which appellant now asserts must be pleaded and relied upon in his action in the trial court before he can raise

the matter in the appellate court. See *Dolinsky v. Williams*, 56 Utah 186, 189 P. 873.

It would be a strange situation if an appellant was allowed to urge upon this court a defense and theory which he did not plead and which was inconsistent with the allegations of his complaint. To allow it would give such an appellant an unconscionable advantage over both respondent and the trial court. *Fisher v. Bank of Spanish Fork*, 93 Utah 514, 74 P. (2d) 659; *Obradovich v. Walker Bros. Bank*, 86 Utah 587, 16 P. (2d) 212.

POINT III.

THE DECREE OF THE COURT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL AND UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE.

Under Point II, appellant argues that the trial court erred in not sustaining defendant's objections and motion to strike the testimony of witness Gaddis. Appellant quotes only a part of the testimony concerning the nature of the warranty deed. Gaddis, after the testimony to which appellant objected, testified fully concerning what he remembered of the transaction involving the warranty deed. During the cross-examination the following pertinent information was elicited (Tr. 96):

“Q You were the agent of Mr. Whiteley, is that right?

“A Yes.

“Q For the purpose of negotiating this loan?

“A Mr. Whiteley was going to lend six hundred dollars to mortgage on the property.

“Q What did he say?

“A He would lend six hundred dollars provided they would give him a Warrenty Deed to the property instead of a third mortgage.”

And at a still later time the following question and answer was elicited by appellant's counsel (Tr. 100,101):

“Q What did you say to Mr. DeVries?

“A What did I say to Mr. DeVries?

“Q Yes.

“A I said, ‘Mr. Whiteley demands a Warranty Deed to the property if he gives you this third loan of six hundred dollars.’ He wants this Warranty Deed to the property, which DeVries and his wife agreed to.”

And then on redirect examination the following interchange occurred (Tr. 103):

“Q You were the agent for Mr. Whiteley and what did you understand this instrument to be?”

* * * * *

“A Security for the six hundred dollar loan.”

In the review by this court of an equity case wherein the judge sat without a jury, the court will presume

that the trial court disregarded incompetent, immaterial or valueless evidence. The court in effect gives a trial de novo on the record made in the trial court. In this trial de novo the judgment will be reversed only if after excluding improper evidence, the judgment of the trial court does not then have support in the evidence. *Federal Land Bank of Berkley v. Salt Lake Valley Sand & Gravel Co.*, 96 Utah 359, 85 P. (2d) 791; *Lipscomb v. Exchange National Bank of Spokane*, 80 Wash. 296, 141 P. 686.

Whiteley himself testified clearly and succinctly concerning the nature of the transaction. The record is replete with statements to the effect that the taking of this warrenty deed was merely to secure an additional loan of \$600.00 and that it was not intended by either the DeVries or respondent to merge and destroy the rights which respondent had under his two earlier mortgages.

The law of this state is clear that where a mortgage incumbrancer becomes the owner of the legal title ~~on~~ the equity of redemption, a merger will not be held to take place, if it be apparent that it was not the intention of the mortgagee, or if, in the absence of any intention, the merger would be against his manifest interest. *Chausse v. Bank of Garland*, 71 Utah 586, 268 P. 781; *O'Reilly v. McLean*, 84 Utah 551, 37 P. (2d) 770.

Under the facts of the present case the manifest interest of respondent Whiteley are against merger, it being abundantly clear that if merger occurred the pri-

ority date of Whiteley's interest would be July 31, 1948. Not only would Ewell's mechanic's lien come ahead of the two mortgages which respondent had upon the premises, but the mechanic's lien of one Harry L. Barnum would be prior. Whiteley specifically stated his intentions (Tr. 125, 126):

“A Well, he said to me—I am taking both parts—Mr. DeVries told me this condition that I am repeating, that the plumber wouldn't go any further until he had \$600 more, and, if he had \$600 more, he could get opened, and that we—if I would let him have another \$600, he'd get open there in sixty days; he would return the \$600 to me, and that, for this \$600, he would give me a deed to the property for sixty days, guaranteeing to pick up the \$600 that I was to let him have within sixty days, and that's how this—

“Q That instrument then that he gave you—

“A This is what was given me for the security for my \$600.

“Q Now, did Mr. DeVries or his wife ever pick this deed up or pay you the \$600?

“A Never did, no.

“Q Never received any money on account of this loan of \$600?

“A I received a \$50 interest payment.

“Q That is all you have ever received?

“A That is all I have ever received.

“Q This proposition, this security arrangement, was Mr. DeVries' suggestions, was it, Mr. Whiteley, as you have related here?

“A No, I think that was Mr. Gaddis’ idea to take—he said, ‘We’ll take a deed to this property from you if Mr. Whiteley will let you have the \$600, and at the end of sixty days, if you pick up the \$600, you can have the deed back and then the two first and second mortgages will ride.’”

In view of the testimony both the *Chausse* and *O’Reilly* Cases are controlling and no merger occurred.

CONCLUSION

We submit that the lower court’s judgment that the liens created by respondent’s two mortgages did not merge with the warranty deed is correct and therefore the decree of the court awarding respondent priority as to his first two mortgages over appellant’s lien is a correct and lawful judgment.